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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1 — Financial Statements (unaudited)
ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019
 (In thousands)

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 62,970  $ 26,387
Short-term investments 28,409  58,736
Accounts receivable, net 12,816  12,979
Inventories, net 9,915  10,317
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,987  4,548

Total current assets 119,097  112,967
Long-term investments 5,510  15,419
Deferred tax assets, non-current 12,231  16,897
Property and equipment, net 18,838  18,843
Operating lease, right of use asset 16,810  11,195
Goodwill 12,790  12,790
Other intangible assets, net 57  65
Other assets, non-current 639  598

Total assets $ 185,972  $ 188,774

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 1,860  $ 1,192
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 6,771  9,869
Lease liabilities 1,196  1,023
Contract liabilities 980  15,746

Total current liabilities 10,807  27,830
Lease liabilities, non-current 17,155  11,533
Contract liabilities, non-current 97  13,120
Other non-current liabilities 496  278

Total liabilities 28,555  52,761
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)  
Stockholders’ equity:    

Common stock 61  61
Additional paid-in capital 173,729  170,028
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 119  (37 )
Treasury stock (30,486 )  (30,486 )
Accumulated earnings (deficit) 13,994  (3,553 )

Total stockholders’ equity 157,417  136,013

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 185,972  $ 188,774

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,
 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands, except per share data)

Product revenue $ 19,256  $ 19,226  $ 38,257  $ 35,298
Product cost of revenue 6,549  5,483  12,233  10,418

Product gross profit 12,707  13,743  26,024  24,880
        

License and development revenue 24,352  3,570  26,895  7,293
        

Operating expenses:        
General and administrative 5,599  5,500  12,480  11,079
Sales and marketing 1,497  2,181  3,635  4,343
Research and development 6,352  5,480  13,061  9,734
Amortization of intangible assets 4  157  8  313
Impairment of long-lived assets 2,332  —  2,332  —

Total operating expenses 15,784  13,318  31,516  25,469
Income from operations 21,275  3,995  21,403  6,704

        

Other income (expense):        
Interest income 255  528  675  1,051
Other non-operating expense, net (18)  (48)  (30)  (72)

Total other income, net 237  480  645  979
Income before income taxes 21,512  4,475  22,048  7,683
Provision for income taxes 4,586  756  4,501  1,310

Net income $ 16,926  $ 3,719  $ 17,547  $ 6,373

        

Earnings per share:        
Basic $ 0.30  $ 0.07  $ 0.32  $ 0.12
Diluted $ 0.30  $ 0.07  $ 0.31  $ 0.11

        

Number of shares used in per share calculations:        
Basic 55,614  54,681  55,513  54,400
Diluted 56,371  56,110  56,438  55,764

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Net income $ 16,926  $ 3,719  $ 17,547  $ 6,373
Other comprehensive income, net of tax        

Foreign currency translation adjustments 10  7  (15 )  (1 )
Unrealized gain on investments 441  64  171  132

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 451  71  156  131
Comprehensive income $ 17,377  $ 3,790  $ 17,703  $ 6,504

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income $ 17,547  $ 6,373
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash (used in) provided by operating activities    

Stock-based compensation 2,595  3,071
Depreciation and amortization 2,751  1,952
Amortization (accretion) of premiums and discounts on investments 215  (30 )
Deferred income taxes 4,666  1,285
Provision for warranty claims 173  242
Impairment of long-lived assets 2,332  —
Other non-cash adjustments 55  259
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable, net 101  (4,986 )
Contract assets (198 )  2,147
Inventories, net 260  (725 )
Prepaid and other assets (278 )  1,026
Accounts payable 1,285  14
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (4,012 )  (2,942 )
Income taxes 3  47
Contract liabilities (27,789 )  (7,730 )

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (294 )  3

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Sales of marketable securities 9,767  —
Maturities of marketable securities 43,286  47,993

Purchases of marketable securities
(12,855 )  (46,549 )

Capital expenditures (4,410 )  (4,685 )
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 35,788  (3,241 )

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 1,128  4,581
Tax payment for employee shares withheld (23 )  (62 )

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,105  4,519
Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents (15 )  —
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 36,584  1,281
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 26,488  22,138

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 63,072  $ 23,419

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,
 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Common stock        
Beginning balance $ 61  $ 60  $ 61  $ 59

Issuance of common stock, net —  —  —  1
Ending balance 61  60  61  60

        

Additional paid-in capital        
Beginning balance 171,954  162,231  170,028  158,404

Issuance of common stock, net 687  2,362  1,105  4,518
Stock-based compensation 1,088  1,388  2,596  3,059

Ending balance 173,729  165,981  173,729  165,981

        

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)        
Beginning balance (332 )  (73 )  (37 )  (133 )

Other comprehensive income        
Foreign currency translation adjustments 10  23  (15 )  (1 )
Unrealized gain on investments 441  48  171  132

Total other comprehensive income, net 451  71  156  131
Ending balance 119  (2 )  119  (2 )

        

Treasury stock        
Beginning and ending balance (30,486 )  (30,486 )  (30,486 )  (30,486 )

        

Accumulated earnings (deficit)        
Beginning balance (2,932 )  (11,812 )  (3,553 )  (14,466 )

Net income 16,926  3,719  17,547  6,373
Ending balance 13,994  (8,093 )  13,994  (8,093 )

        

Total stockholders’ equity $ 157,417  $ 127,460  $ 157,417  $ 127,460

        

Common stock issued (number of shares)        
Beginning balance 60,999  59,919  60,718  59,396

Issuance of common stock, net 134  441  415  964

Ending balance 61,133  60,360  61,133  60,360

        

Treasury stock (number of shares)        
Beginning and ending balance 5,456  5,456  5,456  5,456

See Accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note 1 — Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Energy Recovery, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Energy Recovery”) has, for more than 20 years, created technologies that
solve complex challenges for industrial fluid flow markets worldwide. The Company designs and manufactures solutions that reduce waste, improve
operational efficiency, and lower the production costs of clean water and oil & gas. The Company’s solutions are marketed and sold in fluid flow markets such
as water, oil & gas and chemical processing under the trademarks ERI®, PX®, Pressure Exchanger®, PX Pressure Exchanger®, VorTeq™, IsoBoost®, IsoGen®,
AT™ and AquaBold™. The Company owns, manufactures and/or develops its solutions, in whole or in part, in the United States of America (“U.S.”).

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant
inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The
December 31, 2019 Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet was derived from audited financial statements and may not include all disclosures required by
GAAP; however, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.

The June 30, 2020 unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements and the notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
March 6, 2020, as amended on June 10, 2020 (the “2019 Annual Report”).

In the opinion of management, all adjustments consisting of normal recurring adjustments that are necessary to present fairly the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have been made. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of
the operating results for the full fiscal year or any future periods.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, in conformity with U.S. GAAP, requires the Company’s management to make
judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes.

The accounting policies that reflect the Company’s more significant estimates and judgments and that the Company believes are the most critical to aid
in fully understanding and evaluating its reported financial results are revenue recognition; capitalization of research and development (“R&D”) assets;
valuation of stock options; valuation and impairment of goodwill and acquired intangible assets; valuation adjustments for excess and obsolete inventory;
deferred taxes and valuation allowances on deferred tax assets; and evaluation and measurement of contingencies. Those estimates could change, and as a
result, actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Due to the novel coronavirus (“ COVID-19”) pandemic, the reduced demand of oil and gas, as well as the oversupply of oil, there has been uncertainty
and disruption in the global economy and financial markets. The Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require an update to
its estimates or judgments or a revision of the carrying value of its assets or liabilities as of July 31, 2020, the date of issuance of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. These estimates may change, as new events occur and additional information is obtained. Actual results could differ materially from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly these estimates for any reason after the date
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, except as required by law.

Significant Accounting Policies

Except for adopting new accounting pronouncements, as noted under “ Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements,” there have been no material
changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies in Note 1, “Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies ,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in the 2019 Annual Report.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which amends Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses
(“ASC 326”). Subsequent to the issuance of ASU 2016-13, ASC 326 was amended by various updates that amend and clarify the impact and implementation
of the aforementioned update. The new guidance introduces the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model, which requires an entity to record an allowance
for credit losses for certain financial instruments and financial assets, including trade receivables, based on expected losses rather than incurred losses.
Under this update, on initial recognition and at each reporting period, an entity is required to recognize an allowance that reflects the entity’s current estimate
of credit losses expected to be incurred over the life of the financial instrument. In February 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-02, Financial Instruments-
Credit Losses (Topic 326) and Leases (Topic 842)-Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 119 and Update to SEC
Section on Effective Date Related to Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2020-02”), which amended the language in
Subtopic 326-20 and addressed questions primarily regarding documentation and company policies. ASU 2016-13 and its amendments are effective for the
Company for interim and annual periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, on a modified retrospective basis. The adoption of ASU 2016-13
and its amendments on January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related
disclosures. The Company will continue to actively monitor the impact of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the reduced demand of oil and gas, as well as the
oversupply of oil, on expected credit losses.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-03, Codification Improvements to Financial Instruments  (“ASU 2020-03”). This ASU improves and
clarifies various financial instruments topics, including the CECL standard issued in 2016. ASU 2020-03 included seven different issues that describe the
areas of improvement and the related amendments to GAAP, intended to make the standards easier to understand and apply by eliminating inconsistencies
and providing clarifications. The amendments have different effective dates. The adoption of ASU 2020-03 on January 1, 2020 did not have a material impact
on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures.
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) (“ASU 2020-04”), which provided optional expedients and
exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by the discontinuation of the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) or by another reference rate expected to be discontinued. Entities may apply the provisions of the new standard as of the beginning of the
reporting period when the election is made (i.e., as early as the first quarter of 2020). Unlike other topics, the provisions of this update are only available until
December 31, 2022, when the reference rate replacement activity is expected to have been completed. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
provisions of ASU 2020-04 on its financial condition, results of operation, and cash flows.

Note 2 — Revenue

On June 24, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Schlumberger Technology Corporation (“Schlumberger”) to terminate the existing
agreement to license the VorTeq™ technology (the “VorTeq License Agreement ”). Pursuant to the terms of the agreement , each party’s rights, duties and
obligations under the VorTeq License Agreement  have been terminated effective June 1, 2020. Accordingly, the Company (i) is entitled to retain all of the non-
refundable upfront exclusivity payment, (ii) is not entitled to any further payments from Schlumberger, and (iii) has no future performance obligations under
the VorTeq License Agreement . The Company accounted for the termination as a contract modification, which resulted in the Company recognizing the
remaining amounts of the original $75.0 million non-refundable upfront exclusivity payment of $24.4 million during the three and six months ended  June 30,
2020 as License and development revenue in the  Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations . See Note 12, “VorTeq Partnership and License
Agreement,” for additional discussion regarding the termination of the VorTeq License Agreement .

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables present the Company’s revenues disaggregated by geography based on the “shipped to” addresses of the Company’s customers
and by major product/service line. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded from revenues.

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2020  Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

 Water  Oil & Gas  Total  Water  Oil & Gas  Total
 (In thousands)

Primary geographical market            
Middle East and Africa $ 16,504  $ —  $ 16,504  $ 32,735  $ —  $ 32,735
Americas 1,161  24,352  25,513  2,362  26,895  29,257
Europe 974  —  974  1,768  —  1,768
Asia 617  —  617  1,392  —  1,392

Total revenue $ 19,256  $ 24,352  $ 43,608  $ 38,257  $ 26,895  $ 65,152

            
Major product/service line            

PX Pressure Exchangers, pumps
and turbo devices, and other $ 19,256  $ —  $ 19,256  $ 38,257  —  $ 38,257

License and development —  24,352  24,352  —  26,895  26,895

Total revenue $ 19,256  $ 24,352  $ 43,608  $ 38,257  $ 26,895  $ 65,152
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2019  Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

 Water  Oil and Gas  Total  Water  Oil and Gas  Total
 (In thousands)

Primary geographical market            
Middle East and Africa $ 10,805  $ —  $ 10,805  $ 19,502  $ 104  $ 19,606
Americas 1,728  3,570  5,298  5,751  7,293  13,044
Europe 1,651  —  1,651  2,765  —  2,765
Asia 5,042  —  5,042  7,176  —  7,176

Total revenue $ 19,226  $ 3,570  $ 22,796  $ 35,194  $ 7,397  $ 42,591

            

Major product/service line            
PX Pressure Exchangers, pumps

and turbo devices, and other $ 19,226  $ —  $ 19,226  $ 35,194  $ 104  $ 35,298
License and development —  3,570  3,570  —  7,293  7,293

Total revenue $ 19,226  $ 3,570  $ 22,796  $ 35,194  $ 7,397  $ 42,591

Contract Balances

The following table presents contract balances by category.

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019
 (In thousands)

Accounts receivable, net $ 12,816  $ 12,979

Contract assets:    
Contract assets, current (included in prepaid expenses and other current assets) $ 890  $ 501
Contract assets, non-current (included in other assets, non-current) —  191

Total contract assets $ 890  $ 692

    

Current contract liabilities:    
Customer deposits $ 620  $ 1,506
Deferred revenue:    

License and development —  13,846
Product 79  78
Service 281  316

Total deferred revenue 360  14,240
Total current contract liability 980  15,746

Non-current contract liabilities, deferred revenue:    
License and development —  13,048
Service 97  72

Total non-current contract liability 97  13,120
Total contract liability $ 1,077  $ 28,866
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ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company records unbilled receivables as contract assets. The following table presents significant changes in contract assets during the period.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Contract assets balance, beginning of period $ 936  $ 1,107  $ 692  $ 4,083
Transferred to trade receivables (4,266 )  —  (9,845 )  (3,598 )
Additions to contract assets 4,220  829  10,043  1,451

Contract assets balance, end of period $ 890  $ 1,936  $ 890  $ 1,936

The Company records contract liabilities when cash payments are received in advance of the Company’s performance. The following table presents
significant changes in contract liabilities during the period.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Contract liabilities balance, beginning of period $ 25,314  $ 38,887  $ 28,866  $ 42,809
Revenue recognized (25,751 )  (3,583 )  (29,731 )  (7,319 )
Cash received and adjustments, excluding amounts recognized as

revenue during the period 1,514  (225 )  1,942  (411 )

Contract liabilities balance, end of period $ 1,077  $ 35,079  $ 1,077  $ 35,079

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligation

The following table presents the estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied.

 June 30, 
2020

 (In thousands)

Year:  
2020 (remaining six months) $ 15,078
2021 10,363
2022 15

Total performance obligation $ 25,456

Note 3 — Earnings per Share

Net income for the reported period is divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reported period to calculate
basic earnings per common share. Basic earnings per share exclude any dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units (“RSU”).

Diluted earnings per common share reflects the potential dilution that would occur if outstanding stock options to purchase common stock were
exercised for shares of common stock, using the treasury stock method, and the shares of common stock underlying each outstanding RSU were issued
(collectively referred to as “stock awards”). Certain shares of common stock issuable under stock options and RSUs have been omitted from the diluted
earnings per share calculations because their inclusion is considered anti-dilutive.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:        
Net income $ 16,926  $ 3,719  $ 17,547  $ 6,373

        
Denominator (weighted average shares):        

Basic common shares outstanding 55,614  54,681  55,513  54,400
Dilutive stock awards 757  1,429  925  1,364

Diluted common shares outstanding 56,371  56,110  56,438  55,764

        
Earnings per share:        

Basic $ 0.30  $ 0.07  $ 0.32  $ 0.12
Diluted $ 0.30  $ 0.07  $ 0.31  $ 0.11

The following table presents the potential common shares issuable under stock awards that were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per
share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Anti-dilutive stock awards 2,893  1,650  1,989  2,197

Note 4 — Other Financial Information

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows explains the change in the total of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
following table presents a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets that sum
to the total of such amounts presented.

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019  
June 30, 

2019
 (In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 62,970  $ 26,387  $ 23,331
Restricted cash, non-current (included in other assets, non-current) 102  101  88

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 63,072  $ 26,488  $ 23,419

The Company pledged cash in connection with certain stand-by letters of credit and company credit cards. The Company deposited corresponding
amounts into restricted accounts at several financial institutions.

Accounts Receivable, net

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019
 (In thousands)

Accounts receivable, gross $ 13,186  $ 13,287
Allowance for doubtful accounts (370 )  (308 )

Accounts receivable, net $ 12,816  $ 12,979
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inventories

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019
 (In thousands)

Raw materials $ 3,872  $ 3,742
Work in process 2,737  2,141
Finished goods 3,306  4,434

Inventories, net $ 9,915  $ 10,317

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out method. Valuation adjustments for excess and obsolete
inventory reflected as a reduction of inventory was $0.5 million and $0.4 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. During the three and
six months ended June 30, 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company expensed $0.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, to product cost of
revenue related to the reduced utilization of  the Company’s manufacturing facilities during March and April 2020  prior to the Company’s return to full
manufacturing in May 2020, as well as the increased overhead costs of  the Company’s Tracy, California facility.

Property and Equipment

Estimated useful lives are periodically reviewed, and when appropriate, changes are made prospectively. When certain events or changes in operating
conditions occur, asset lives may be adjusted and an impairment assessment may be performed on the recoverability of the carrying amounts. The Company
evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to estimated future net undiscounted cash flows generated by
the asset (asset group). If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. The evaluation of recoverability involves estimates of future operating cash flows based upon certain
forecasted assumptions, including, but not limited to, revenue growth rates, gross profit margins, and operating expenses.

On June 24, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Schlumberger to terminate the existing VorTeq License Agreement  effective June 1,
2020. As a result, the Company conducted an analysis on certain VorTeq long-lived assets that were directly related to obligations under the  VorTeq License
Agreement and determined that certain of those assets were impaired.  The net carrying value of the impaired long-lived assets of  $2.3 million was recognized
in the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020 as Impairment of long-lived assets in the  Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations . See Note 12,
“VorTeq Partnership and License Agreement ,” for additional discussion regarding the termination of the VorTeq License Agreement .

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

 June 30, 
2020  

December 31, 
2019

 (In thousands)

Payroll, incentives and commissions payable $ 3,978  $ 6,040
Warranty reserve 673  631
Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 2,120  3,198

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 6,771  $ 9,869

   Energy Recovery, Inc. | Q2'2020 Form 10-Q | 14



Table of Contents
ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 5 — Investments and Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the Company’s marketable securities in the form of cash equivalents, and short and long-term investments.

 
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019
 (In thousands)

Cash equivalents $ 48,094  $ 11,668
Short-term investments 28,409  58,736
Long-term investments 5,510  15,419

Total cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 82,013  $ 85,823

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no available-for-sale investments reported in cash equivalents.

Available-for-Sale Investments

The Company’s short and long-term investments are all classified as available-for-sale. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, all available-for-
sale investments were either classified as short-term with maturities less than 12 months or long-term with maturities over 12 months. The Company generally
holds available-for-sale investments until maturity; however, from time-to-time, the Company may elect to sell certain available-for-sale investments prior to
maturity.

The following tables present available-for-sale investments and their related gross unrealized holding gains and losses as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.

 June 30, 2020

 
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  
Fair

Value
 (In thousands)

Short-term investments        
U.S. treasury securities $ 4,091  $ 28  $ —  $ 4,119
Corporate notes and bonds 24,128  163  (1 )  24,290

Total short-term investments 28,219  191  (1 )  28,409

Long-term investments        
Corporate notes and bonds 5,438  72  —  5,510

Total long-term investments 5,438  72  —  5,510

Total available-for-sale investments $ 33,657  $ 263  $ (1)  $ 33,919
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 December 31, 2019

 
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  
Fair

Value
 (In thousands)

Short-term investments        
U.S. treasury securities $ 2,746  $ 1  $ —  $ 2,747
Corporate notes and bonds 55,951  49  (11 )  55,989

Total short-term investments 58,697  50  (11 )  58,736

Long-term investments        
Corporate notes and bonds 15,415  9  (5 )  15,419

Total long-term investments 15,415  9  (5 )  15,419

Total available-for-sale investments $ 74,112  $ 59  $ (16)  $ 74,155

The Company monitors investments for impairment. It was determined that unrealized gains and losses at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, were
temporary in nature, because the changes in market value for these securities resulted from fluctuating interest rates, rather than a deterioration of the credit
worthiness of the issuers. The Company is unlikely to experience gains or losses if these securities are held to maturity. In the event that the Company
disposes of these securities before maturity, it is expected that the realized gains or losses, if any, will be immaterial.

Expected maturities can differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties.
The following table presents the amortized cost and the related fair value of short and long-term available-for-sale securities with stated maturities shown by
contractual maturity.

 June 30, 2020

 
Amortized

Cost  
Fair

Value
 (In thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 28,219  $ 28,409
Due in greater than one year 5,438  5,510

Total $ 33,657  $ 33,919

Sales of Available-for-Sale Investments

The following table presents the sales of available-for-sale investments.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Corporate notes and bonds $ 4,793  $ —  $ 9,767  $ —

Gain on sales of securities were immaterial during the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

All of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are remeasured and reported at fair value at each reporting period; and are classified and disclosed
in one of the following three pricing category levels:

Level 1  — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2  — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3  — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions that market

participants would use in pricing.

The following table presents the fair value of financial assets measured on a recurring basis. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the
Company had no financial liabilities and no Level 3 financial assets.

 
Pricing

Category  
June 30, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019

   (In thousands)

Cash equivalents      
Money market securities Level 1  $ 48,094  $ 86
U.S. treasury securities Level 2  —  11,582

Total cash equivalents   48,094  11,668

Short-term investments      
U.S. treasury securities Level 2  4,119  2,747
Corporate notes and bonds Level 2  24,290  55,989

Total short-term investments   28,409  58,736

Long-term investments      
Corporate notes and bonds Level 2  5,510  15,419

Total long-term investments   5,510  15,419

Total fair value of financial assets   $ 82,013  $ 85,823

During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had no transfers of financial assets between any levels.

The following table presents a summary of the fair value and gross unrealized holding losses on the available-for-sale securities that have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position, aggregated by type of investment instrument as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The available-for-sale for
investments that were in an unrealized gain position have been excluded from the table.

 June 30, 2020  December 31, 2019

 
Fair

Value  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  
Fair

Value  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
 (In thousands)

U.S. treasury securities $ —  $ —  $ 2,027  $ —
Corporate notes and bonds 900  (1 )  18,754  (16 )

Total available-for-sale investments with unrealized loss positions $ 900  $ (1)  $ 20,781  $ (16)
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Note 6 — Goodwill

The net carrying amount of goodwill as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $12.8 million.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually in the third quarter (July 1) of the Company’s fiscal year or more frequently if indicators of potential
impairment exist. The recoverability of goodwill is measured at the reporting unit level, which represents the operating segment. The Company continues to
actively monitor the industries in which it operates and its businesses' performance for indicators of potential impairment.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company considered the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the termination of the VorTeq License Agreement ,
and determined as a result of the Company’s assessment that goodwill related to the Company’s Water and Oil & Gas segments was not impaired.

Note 7 — Lines of Credit

Loan and Pledge Agreement

The Company entered into a loan and pledge agreement with a financial institution on January 27, 2017. Since inception, this loan and pledge
agreement has been amended multiple times to accommodate the growth of the Company (the amended loan and pledge agreement is hereinafter referred to
as the “Loan and Pledge Agreement ”). The Loan and Pledge Agreement , as amended, which will expire on June 30, 2022, provides for a committed revolving
credit line of $16.0 million and an uncommitted revolving credit line of $4.0 million. The covenants of the Loan and Pledge Agreement  allow the Company to
incur indebtedness owed to a foreign subsidiary in an aggregate amount not to exceed $66.0 million, which amount is subordinated to any amounts
outstanding under the Loan and Pledge Agreement .

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there was no debt outstanding under the Loan and Pledge Agreement .

Stand-By Letters of Credit

Under the Loan and Pledge Agreement , the Company is allowed to issue stand-by letters of credit (“ SBLCs”) up to one year past the expiration date of
the Loan and Pledge Agreement  and to hold SBLCs with other financial institutions up to $5.1 million. SBLCs have a term limit of three years, are secured by
pledged U.S. investments, and do not have any cash collateral balance requirements. SBLCs are deducted from the total revolving credit line under the Loan
and Pledge Agreement and are subject to a non-refundable quarterly fee that is in an amount equal to 0.7% per annum of the face amount of the outstanding
SBLCs.

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were $12.3 million and $11.8 million, respectively, of outstanding SBLCs.
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Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Lease Obligations

The Company leases office facilities and equipment under operating leases that expire on various dates through fiscal year 2030.

On January 10, 2019, the Company entered into an industrial lease agreement, which commenced on January 1, 2020. This lease for a commercial
development center for oil & gas field testing, manufacturing, and training, located in Katy, Texas (the “Katy Lease”), included an office and warehouse  space
of approximately 25,200 square feet (“sqft.”) and land of approximately 4.5 acres. The Company’s annual base rent obligation, paid monthly, is approximately
$0.3 million with an increase of approximately 3% annually thereafter, totaling $3.6 million, over the term of the lease. The initial term of the Katy Lease is
120 months after the commencement date, and the Company has two options to extend the lease by an additional five-year term per option, which must be
exercised by written notice at least six months prior to the end of the relevant term.

On February 10, 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement, that commenced on March 1, 2020, for an additional manufacturing and
warehouse space of approximately 54,429 sqft., located in Tracy, California (the “Tracy Lease”). This lease supplements the existing manufacturing,
warehouse and distribution of the Company’s energy recovery devices (“ ERDs”) and other products. The Company’s annual base rent obligation, paid
monthly, is approximately $0.4 million, with an increase of approximately 3% annually thereafter, totaling $5.0 million, over the term of the lease. The initial
term of the Tracy Lease is 122 months after the commencement date, and the Company has one option to extend the lease by an additional five-year term,
which must be exercised by written notice at least nine months prior to the end of the original lease term.

The following table presents operating lease activities related to all leased properties.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Operating lease expense $ 668  $ 473  $ 1,271  $ 950
Cash payments 618  459  1,108  906
Non-cash lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets —  —  6,384  —

The following table presents other information related to outstanding operating leases as of June 30, 2020.

Weighted average remaining lease term 8.9 years
Weighted average discount rate 7.0%
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The following table presents the minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases, exclusive of executory costs as of June 30, 2020.

 Lease Amounts
 (In thousands)

Year:  
2020 (remaining six months) $ 1,290
2021 2,431
2022 2,650
2023 2,580
2024 2,812
2025 and thereafter 13,197

Total 24,960
Less imputed lease interest (6,609 )
Total lease liabilities $ 18,351

Warranty

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s accrued product warranty reserve.

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Warranty reserve balance, beginning of period $ 665  $ 571  $ 631  $ 478
Warranty costs charged to cost of revenue 75  89  173  242
Utilization charges against reserve (1)  (25)  (2 )  (38 )
Release of accrual related to expired warranties (66)  (36)  (129 )  (83 )

Warranty reserve balance, end of period $ 673  $ 599  $ 673  $ 599

Purchase Obligations

The Company has purchase order arrangements with its vendors for which the Company has not received the related goods or services as of June 30,
2020. These arrangements are subject to change based on the Company’s sales demand forecasts. The Company has the right to cancel the arrangements
prior to the date of delivery. The purchase order arrangements are related to various raw materials and components parts, as well as for capital equipment. As
of June 30, 2020, the Company had approximately $8.7 million of such open cancellable purchase order arrangements.

Litigation

The Company is named in and subject to various proceedings and claims in connection with its business. The outcome of matters the Company has
been, and currently is, involved in cannot be determined at this time, and the results cannot be predicted with certainty. There can be no assurance that these
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations in any future period, and a significant judgment could have a material
impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Company may in the future become involved in additional litigation in
the ordinary course of business, including litigation that could be material to its business.
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The Company considers all claims on a quarterly basis and, based on known facts, assesses whether potential losses are considered reasonably
possible, probable and estimable. Based upon this assessment, the Company then evaluates disclosure requirements and whether to accrue for such claims
in its consolidated financial statements. The Company records a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and are adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations,
settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. As of June 30, 2020, there were no material
losses which were probable or reasonably possible.

On September 10, 2014, the Company terminated the employment of its Senior Vice President, Sales, Borja Blanco, on the basis of breach of duty of
trust and conduct leading to conflict of interest. On October 24, 2014, Mr. Blanco filed a labor claim against ERI Iberia in Madrid, Spain, challenging the
fairness of his dismissal and seeking compensation. Multiple hearings were held from the initial hearing in November 2015 through February 2018, at which
point, the labor court issued a ruling in favor of Mr. Blanco declaring the termination to be an unjustified dismissal and ordered the Company to pay a
dismissed severance. The Company appealed the decision and received notice on March 18, 2019 that the appeals court had partially reversed the labor
court’s order. The Company further appealed the decision and in July 2020, the Company received notice that the appeals court decided to confirm its prior
ruling, and therefore, the matter is now closed. There is no reasonable possible loss in excess of amounts already accrued.

On July 21, 2020, a purported securities class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York ( Visser, et
al. v. Energy Recovery, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:20-cv-05647-VM (S.D.N.Y.)), naming as defendants, the Company and certain of the Company’s present and
former executive officers. The Complaint alleges that the defendants violated Section 10(b) and 20 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, by making materially false and misleading statements, and failed to disclose material adverse facts about the
Company’s business operations and financial health. The Complaint further alleges unspecified damages based on the decline in the market price of the
Company’s shares following the announcement of the termination of the VorTeq License. The Company believes the complaint is without merit and intends to
defend the case vigorously. At this time, the Company is not able to estimate any reasonable possible loss, if any, due to the early state of this matter.

Note 9 — Income Taxes

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands, except percentages)

Provision for income taxes $ 4,586  $ 756  $ 4,501  $ 1,310
Effective tax rate 21.3%  16.9%  20.4%  17.1%
Effective tax rate, excluding discrete items 20.1%  21.8%  20.0%  21.6%

The Company’s tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of  its annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items, if any, that
arise during the period. Each quarter, the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax rate, and if the estimated annual effective tax rate
changes, the Company makes a cumulative adjustment in such period . The Company’s quarterly tax provision, and estimate of  its annual effective tax rate, is
subject to variation due to several factors, including variability in accurately predicting its pre-tax income or loss and the mix of jurisdictions to which they
relate, intercompany transactions, the applicability of special tax regimes, and changes in how the Company does business.

For the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020, the recognized income tax expense included a discrete tax charge due primarily to the termination
of the VorTeq License Agreement , partially offset by stock-based compensation windfalls. For the three and six months ended  June 30, 2019, the recognized
income tax expense included a discrete tax benefit due primarily to stock-based compensation windfalls.

   Energy Recovery, Inc. | Q2'2020 Form 10-Q | 21



Table of Contents
ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The effective tax rate, excluding the discrete items for the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the three and six
months ended June 30, 2019, was lower due primarily to  higher anticipated R&D credits in fiscal year 2020 .

Note 10 — Business Segment

The Company’s chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) is the chief executive officer. The Company’s reportable segments consist of the Water
segment and the Oil & Gas segment. These segments are based on the industries in which the products are sold, the type of products sold and the related
products and services. The Water segment consists of revenue associated with products sold for use in reverse osmosis desalination as well as the related
identifiable expenses. The Oil & Gas segment consists of revenue associated with products sold for use in gas processing, chemical processing and hydraulic
fracturing as well as license and development revenue associated therewith. Operating income (loss) for each segment excludes other income and expenses
and certain corporate expenses managed outside the operating segment such as income taxes and other separately managed general and administrative
expenses not related to the identified segments. Assets and liabilities are reviewed at the consolidated level by the CODM and are not accounted for by
segment. The CODM allocates resources to and assesses the performance of each operating segment using information about its revenue and operating
income.
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The following tables present a summary of the Company’s financial information by segment and corporate operating expenses.

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2020  Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

 Water  Oil & Gas  Total  Water  Oil & Gas  Total
 (In thousands)

Product revenue $ 19,256  $ —  $ 19,256  $ 38,257  $ —  $ 38,257
Product cost of revenue 6,549  —  6,549  12,233  —  12,233

Product gross profit 12,707  —  12,707  26,024  —  26,024

            
License and development revenue(1) —  24,352  24,352  —  26,895  26,895
            
Operating expenses            

General and administrative 456  421  877  861  1,162  2,023
Sales and marketing 1,124  18  1,142  2,800  76  2,876
Research and development 960  4,517  5,477  1,862  9,764  11,626
Amortization of intangible assets 4  —  4  8  —  8
Impairment of long-lived assets(2) —  2,332  2,332  —  2,332  2,332

Total operating expenses 2,544  7,288  9,832  5,531  13,334  18,865

            
Operating income $ 10,163  $ 17,064  27,227  $ 20,493  $ 13,561  34,054

            

Less: Corporate operating expenses     5,952      12,651
Income from operations     21,275      21,403
Other income, net     237      645

Income before income taxes     $ 21,512      $ 22,048

  (1) See Note 12, “VorTeq Partnership and License Agreement,” for additional discussion regarding the termination of the VorTeq License
Agreement.

(2) See Note 4, “Other Financial Information – Property and Equipment,” for additional discussion regarding the impairment of certain VorTeq long-lived assets that were
directly related to obligations under the VorTeq License Agreement.

   Energy Recovery, Inc. | Q2'2020 Form 10-Q | 23



Table of Contents
ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2019  Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

 Water  Oil & Gas  Total  Water  Oil & Gas  Total
 (In thousands)

Product revenue $ 19,226  $ —  $ 19,226  $ 35,194  $ 104  $ 35,298
Product cost of revenue 5,483  —  5,483  10,230  188  10,418

Product gross profit (loss) 13,743  —  13,743  24,964  (84)  24,880

            
License and development revenue —  3,570  3,570  —  7,293  7,293
            
Operating expenses            

General and administrative 563  412  975  1,097  776  1,873
Sales and marketing 1,559  319  1,878  3,208  582  3,790
Research and development 1,103  4,305  5,408  1,908  7,668  9,576
Amortization of intangible assets 157  —  157  313  —  313

Total operating expenses 3,382  5,036  8,418  6,526  9,026  15,552

            
Operating income (loss) $ 10,361  $ (1,466)  8,895  $ 18,438  $ (1,817)  16,621

            

Less: Corporate operating expenses     4,900      9,917
Income from operations     3,995      6,704
Other income, net     480      979

Income before income taxes     $ 4,475      $ 7,683

Note 11 — Concentrations

Product Revenue

The following table presents customers accounting for 10% or more of the Company’s product revenue by segment. Although certain customers might
account for greater than 10% of the Company’s revenue at any one point in time, the concentration of revenue between a limited number of large engineering,
procurement and construction (“EPC”) firms shifts regularly, depending on contract negotiations. The percentages by customer reflect specific relationships or
contracts that would concentrate the Company’s revenue for the periods presented and does not indicate a trend specific to any one customer.

   Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 Segment  2020  2019  2020  2019
Customer A Water  19%  12%  24%  **
Customer B Water  22%  27%  21%  28%
Customer C Water  22%  **  15%  **
Customer D Water  **  13%  **  12%

  ** Zero or less than
10%.

License and Development Revenue

One international Oil & Gas segment customer accounted for 100% of the Company’s license and development revenue for each of the three and six
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

   Energy Recovery, Inc. | Q2'2020 Form 10-Q | 24



Table of Contents
ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 12 — VorTeq Partnership and License Agreement

On October 14, 2015, the Company and Schlumberger entered into the VorTeq License Agreement , which provided Schlumberger with exclusive
worldwide rights to the Company’s VorTeq technology for use in hydraulic fracturing onshore applications. In performing the obligations under the agreement,
the Company provided research and development services to commercialize the technology in accordance with the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”),
defined in the VorTeq License Agreement . The VorTeq License Agreement  included up to $125.0 million in upfront consideration paid in the following stages:
(i) a $75.0 million non-refundable upfront exclusivity payment; and (ii) two non-refundable milestone payments of $25.0 million each made upon achievement
of successful tests in accordance with the KPIs specified in the VorTeq License Agreement  (“M1” and “M2”).

On June 24, 2020, prior to activating the M1 test, the Company and Schlumberger entered into an agreement to terminate the VorTeq License
Agreement effective June 1, 2020. Prior to the termination of the VorTeq License Agreement , the Company had been recognizing license and development
revenue related to the non-refundable exclusivity payment under the cost to total cost method of accounting. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement , each
party’s rights, duties and obligations under the VorTeq License Agreement  have been terminated. Accordingly, the Company (i) is entitled to retain all of the
non-refundable upfront exclusivity payment, (ii) is not entitled to any further payments from Schlumberger, and (iii) has no future performance obligations
under the VorTeq License Agreement . The Company accounted for the termination as a contract modification, which resulted in the Company recognizing the
remaining amounts of the original $75.0 million non-refundable upfront exclusivity payment of $24.4 million during the three and six months ended  June 30,
2020 as License and development revenue in the  Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations .
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Forward Looking Information

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, including select information for the year ended December 31, 2019
and including “Part I, Item 2 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (the “MD&A”) and certain information incorporated
by reference, contain forward-looking statements within the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements in
this report include, but are not limited to, statements about our expectations, objectives, anticipations, plans, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future.

Forward-looking statements represent our current expectations about future events, are based on assumptions, and involve risks and uncertainties. If the risks or
uncertainties occur or the assumptions prove incorrect, then our results may differ materially from those set forth or implied by the forward-looking statements. Our forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or events.

Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “aims,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” “seeks,” variations of such words and similar expressions are also
intended to identify such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict;
therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Readers are directed to risks and uncertainties
identified under “Part II, Item 1A – Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report for factors that may cause actual results to be different from those expressed in these forward-
looking statements. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason.

Forward-looking statements in this report include, without limitation, statements about the following:
• our belief that the marketable securities in the form of cash equivalents, and short and long-term investments and ongoing cash generated from operations

should be sufficient to cover our capital requirements for the next 12 months;
• our belief that our gross margins will continue to be negatively affected until we are able to operate our manufacturing facilities as originally planned prior to the

novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) global pandemic;
• our belief that we will be able to fulfill most, if not all, of our existing delivery obligations in fiscal year

2020.
• our belief that our manufacturing and warehouse space in Tracy, California will produce at the levels we

forecast;
• our belief that levels of gross profit margin are sustainable to the extent that volume grows, we experience a favorable product mix, pricing remains stable and

we continue to realize cost savings through production efficiencies and enhanced yields;
• our plan to improve our existing energy recovery devices and to develop and manufacture new and enhanced versions of these

devices;
• our belief that our PX® energy recovery devices are the most cost-effective energy recovery devices over time and will result in low life-cycle

costs;
• our belief that our turbocharger devices have long operating

lives;
• our objective of finding new applications for our technology and developing new products for use outside of desalination, including oil & gas

applications;
• our expectation that our expenses for research and development and sales and marketing may increase as a result of diversification into markets outside of

desalination;
• our expectation that we will continue to rely on sales of our energy recovery devices in the desalination market for a substantial portion of our revenue, and that

new desalination markets, including the U.S., will provide revenue opportunities to us;
• our ability to meet projected new product development dates, anticipated cost reduction targets or revenue growth objectives for new

products;
• our belief that we can commercialize the VorTeq™ hydraulic fracturing

system;
• our belief that the VorTeq hydraulic fracturing system enables oilfield services (“OFS”) companies to migrate to more efficient pumping

technology;
• our belief that customers will accept and adopt our new

products;
• our belief that our current facilities will be adequate for the foreseeable

future;
• our expectation that sales outside of the U.S. will remain a significant portion of our

revenue;
• the timing of our receipt of payment for products or services from our

customers;
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• our belief that our existing cash balances and cash generated from our operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated liquidity needs for the foreseeable
future, with the exception of a decision to enter into an acquisition and/or fund investments in our latest technology arising from rapid market adoption that could
require us to seek additional equity or debt financing;

• our expectation that, as we expand our international sales, a portion of our revenue could be denominated in foreign currencies and the impact of changes in
exchange rates on our cash and cash equivalents and operating results;

• our belief that new markets will grow in the water desalination
market;

• our expectation that we will be able to enforce our intellectual property
rights;

• our expectation that the adoption of new accounting standards will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations;

• the outcome of proceedings, lawsuits, disputes and
claims;

• the impact of losses due to indemnification
obligations;

• the impact of changes in internal control over financial reporting;
and

• the development of major public health concerns, including the COVID-19 outbreak or other pandemics arising globally, and the future impact of it and COVID-
19 on our business and operations.

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date of the filing of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. All forward-looking statements included in this document are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements, as disclosed from time to time in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and
Current Reports on Form 8-K, as well as in our Annual Reports to Stockholders and in “Part II, Item 1A – Risk Factors” within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In
preparing the MD&A below, we presume the readers have access to and have read the MD&A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019,
pursuant to Instruction 2 to paragraph (b) of Item 303 of Regulation S-K. We assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. It is important to note
that our actual results could differ materially from the results set forth or implied by our forward-looking statements.

We provide our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements, Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by or on
behalf of directors, executive officers and certain large shareholders, and any amendments to those documents filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, free of charge on the Investor Relations section of our website, www.energyrecovery.com. These filings will become available as soon as reasonably practicable
after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. From time to time, we may use our website as a channel of distribution of material company
information.

We also make available in the Investor Relations section of our website our corporate governance documents including our code of business conduct and ethics and
the charters of the audit, compensation and nominating and governance committees. These documents, as well as the information on the website, are not intended to be
part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We use the Investor Relations section of our website as a means of complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation
FD. Accordingly, you should monitor the Investor Relations section of our website in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and
webcasts.
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Overview

We have, for more than 20 years, created technologies that solve complex challenges for industrial fluid flow markets worldwide . We design and
manufacture solutions that reduce waste, improve operational efficiency, and lower the production costs of clean water and oil & gas . What began as a game-
changing invention for water desalination has grown into a global business delivering solutions that enable more affordable access to these critical resources.

We were incorporated in Virginia in 1992 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2001. Our headquarters and principal research, development and
manufacturing facility is located in San Leandro, California, and, as of January 2020, we opened our commercial development center for oil & gas field testing,
manufacturing, and training, located in Katy, Texas. On February 10, 2020, we leased an additional manufacturing and warehouse space located in Tracy,
California that commenced on March 1, 2020, to supplement the existing manufacturing, warehouse and distribution of  our energy recovery devices (“ ERDs”).
Our worldwide sales and technical service organization provides on-site support for our line of water solutions, and we maintain direct sales offices and
technical support centers in Europe, the Middle East and Asia.

Engineering, research and development have been, and remain, an essential part of our history, culture and corporate strategy. Since our formation, we
have developed and become experts in our unique PX® Pressure Exchanger® (“PX”) technology, which provides benefits when applied to industrial fluid flow
system with pressure differentials. Today, we believe our PX is the industry standard in the reverse osmosis desalination industry. In addition, we have been
actively developing new applications of our pressure exchanger technology in the oil & gas industry. This focus on engineering, research and development will
continue to be a core component of our future strategy as we focus on developing new products outside of our water and oil & gas business units.

Our reportable operating segments consist of the Water and Oil & Gas segments. These segments are based on the industries in which the technology
solutions are sold, the type of ERD or other technology sold and the related solution and service. In addition, our Corporate operating expenses include
expenditures in support of Water and Oil & Gas segments, as well as research and development expenditures applicable to potential future industry verticals,
or enabling technologies that could benefit either or both existing business units.

Water Segment

Our Water segment consists of revenues and expenses associated with solutions sold for use in reverse osmosis desalination applications. Our Water
segment revenue is principally derived from the sale of ERDs and high-pressure and circulation pumps to our mega-project development (“MPD”), original
equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) and aftermarket (“AM”) channels. MPD sales are typically made to global EPC firms to build very large desalination plants
worldwide. Our typical MPD sale consists of our PX, and each MPD sale represents revenue opportunities generally ranging from $1 million to $18 million.
Our packaged solutions to OEMs include our PX, turbochargers, high-pressure pumps and circulation “booster” pumps for integration and use in small to
medium-sized desalination plants. OEM projects typically represent revenue opportunities of up to $1 million. Our existing and expanding installed base of
ERD and pump products in water plants has created a growing customer base comprised of plant operators and service providers who purchase spare parts,
replacement parts and service contracts through our AM channel.

Oil & Gas Segment

Our Oil & Gas segment consists primarily of expenses associated with solutions for use in hydraulic fracturing, gas processing and chemical
processing. In the past several years, we have invested significantly into research and development, sales, and marketing to expand our business into
pressurized fluid flow industries within the oil & gas industry.
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Quarterly Highlights

COVID-19 Pandemic

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), a pandemic which has resulted in authorities
across the globe implementing numerous measures to contain the virus, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and
business limitations and shutdowns. In response to measures taken by state and local governments in mid-March, we elected to temporarily suspend our
manufacturing activities at our San Leandro headquarters to assess the impact of these orders and to implement health and safety actions recommended by
government and health officials to better protect our employees who are required to be present at one of our facilities. In addition, the majority of our
employees have been working remotely since that time. In early April 2020, we commenced limited manufacturing in accordance with federal, state and local
regulations and guidance with enhanced safety measures in place, including shift configurations that ensure social distancing between workers, personal
safety equipment for each worker, such as masks and gloves, and cleanings between shifts; and in July 2020, started weekly testing of employees working on
site. In addition, we implemented, where feasible, a work at home policy, to allow for continued operation of all support functions. We have resumed to full
production status since May 2020 with our enhanced safety measures remaining in place to contain the spread of COVID-19 and to ensure the health and
safety of our employees. The March 2020 suspension of our manufacturing activities and the new safety measures implemented in the second quarter of 2020
did not have a material effect on our revenues during the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020.

While we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will have on our long-term financial condition, result of operations, liquidity and
cash flows due to uncertainties, our compliance with these measures did not have a material impact on our financial results for the first half of fiscal year 2020.
We have, however, taken precautionary measures to manage our resources conservatively by reducing and/or deferring capital and operating expenses to
mitigate any potential adverse impacts of the pandemic as well as to conserve cash. Based on current projections, which are subject to numerous
uncertainties, including the duration and severity of the pandemic and containment measures and the effect of these on the industries in which we compete,
we believe our cash on hand and marketable securities, as well as our ongoing cash generated from operations, should be sufficient to cover our capital
requirements for the next 12 months from the issuance of this quarterly report. In addition, as a result of our reduced manufacturing levels, our gross margin
for the first half of 2020 was negatively affected. Notwithstanding the reduction in our manufacturing levels, based on our current rate of production, we believe
that we will be able to fulfill our existing delivery obligations in fiscal year 2020.

While we anticipate that the foregoing measures are temporary, we cannot predict the specific duration for which these precautionary measures will
stay in effect, and our business may be adversely impacted as a result of the pandemic’s global economic impact. In the future, the pandemic may cause
reduced demand for our products if it results in a recessionary global economic environment. It could also lead to volatility in access to our products due to
government actions impacting our ability to produce and ship products or impacting the construction of large water desalination projects. For a discussion of
the key trends and uncertainties that have affected our revenues, income and liquidity, see Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of this Form 10-Q and Part I,
Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
on March 6, 2020, as amended on June 10, 2020 (the “2019 Annual Report”).

Water Segment

• We have opened our new manufacturing and warehouse in Tracy, California. The new facility supplements the existing manufacturing, warehouse
and distribution of our PX, turbochargers and pumps. Commissioning of this facility occurred in July 2020.

• In April 2020, we were awarded projects to supply PXs, related equipment and services to multiple desalination facilities in Egypt totaling $8.3 million,
with a combined capacity of more than 290,000 cubic meters per day (“m3/day”). Once these facilities are in operation, our PXs are expected to
recycle hydraulic energy equivalent to over 300 gigawatt hours of energy annually, an amount associated with approximately 200,000 metric tons of
carbon emissions.
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• In April 2020, we were awarded projects to supply PXs, related equipment and services to multiple desalination facilities in China totaling $2.5 million,
with a combined capacity of more than 140,000 m3/day, or more than 37 million gallons per day. Once these facilities are in operation, our PXs are
expected to recycle hydraulic energy equivalent to over 120 gigawatt hours of energy annually, an amount associated with approximately
70,000 metric tons of carbon emissions.

• In July 2020, we were awarded projects to supply several hundred PXs, related equipment and services totaling $20.9 million, including a contract for
the 400,000 m3/day Al Jubail II Seawater Reverse Osmosis (“SWRO”) facility (“Jubail II”). Jubail II will replace the thermal capacity of the
136,000 m3/day Jubail I thermal desalination facility.

Oil & Gas Segment

• On June 24, 2020, we and Schlumberger Technology Corporation (“Schlumberger”) entered into an agreement to terminate the VorTeq License
Agreement (“VorTeq License Agreement ”).

• As a result of the termination of the  VorTeq License Agreement , we are now free to market our VorTeq™ technology to all companies in the broader
pressure pumping market.

Results of Operations

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020, compared to the three and
six months ended June 30, 2019, is presented below.

Total Revenue

Total revenue consists of both product revenue and license and development revenue. See Note 2, “Revenue” and Note 11, “Concentrations” for further
discussion of disaggregated revenue by primary geographical region and product type, and customer revenue concentration, respectively, of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1, “Financial Statements (unaudited),” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

 Three Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Change

 $  
% of Total
Revenue  $  

% of Total
Revenue  $  %

 (In thousands, except percentages)

Product revenue - Water $ 19,256  44%  $ 19,226  84%  $ 30  —%
License and development revenue 24,352  56%  3,570  16%  20,782  582%

Total revenue $ 43,608  100%  $ 22,796  100%  $ 20,812  91%

Water Segment

Product revenue was $19.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to $19.2 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019. The
increase in Water segment product revenue, compared to prior year, was due primarily to higher shipments to MPD and AM customers, partially offset by
lower shipments to OEM customers.

Variability from quarter to quarter is typical, and year on year quarterly comparisons are not necessarily indicative of the trend for the full year due to
these variations.

Oil & Gas Segment

License and development revenue of $24.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $3.6 million in the three months ended
June 30, 2019, increased by $20.8 million, or 582%. License and development revenue is calculated as a percentage of cost to total cost.
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During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we and Schlumberger entered into an agreement to terminate the  VorTeq License Agreement  effective
June 1, 2020. As there were no future performance obligations to be recognized under the  VorTeq License Agreement , we recognized in full the remaining
deferred revenue balance of $24.4 million during the quarter. There will be no license and development revenue recognized in future quarters in relation to the
VorTeq License Agreement .

 Six Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Change

 $  
% of Total
Revenue  $  

% of Total
Revenue  $  %

 (In thousands, except percentages)

Water $ 38,257  59%  $ 35,194  83%  $ 3,063  9%
Oil & Gas —  —%  104  —%  (104 )  (100%)

Product revenue 38,257  59%  35,298  83%  2,959  8%
License and development revenue 26,895  41%  7,293  17%  19,602  269%

Total revenue $ 65,152  100%  $ 42,591  100%  $ 22,561  53%

Water Segment

Product revenue of $38.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $35.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019, increased
by $3.1 million, or 9%, due primarily to higher shipments to the MPD customers, partially offset by lower shipments to the OEM and AM customers.

Oil & Gas Segment

License and development revenue of $26.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $7.3 million in the six months ended June 30,
2019, increased by $19.6 million, or 269%.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we and Schlumberger entered into an agreement to terminate the  VorTeq License Agreement  effective
June 1, 2020. As there were no future performance obligations to be recognized under the  VorTeq License Agreement , we recognized in full the remaining
deferred revenue balance of $24.4 million during first half of 2020 .
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Product Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Product gross profit represents our product revenue less our product cost of revenue. Our product cost of revenue consists primarily of raw materials,
personnel costs (including share-based compensation), manufacturing overhead, warranty costs, depreciation expense and manufactured components.

 Three Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Gross Profit Change

 Gross Profit  Gross Margin  Gross Profit  Gross Margin  $  %
 (In thousands, except percentages)

Product gross profit and gross margin $ 12,707  66.0%  $ 13,743  71.5%  $ (1,036)  (7.5%)

Product gross profit of $12.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $13.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019,
decreased by $1.0 million, or (7.5%), despite essentially flat revenue as compared to 2019. The decrease in product gross profit was due primarily to a
reduction in gross margin to 66.0% in the three months ended June 30, 2020, from 71.5% in the three months ended June 30, 2019. This gross margin
decrease was due primarily to higher costs of $0.7 million, or 3.7%, in cost of product revenue related to the reduced utilization of  our manufacturing facilities
during the second quarter prior to our return to full manufacturing in May 2020 , as well as the increased overhead costs of  our Tracy, California facility.

 Six Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Gross Profit Change

 Gross Profit  Gross Margin  Gross Profit  Gross Margin  $  %
 (In thousands, except percentages)

Product gross profit and gross margin $ 26,024  68.0%  $ 24,880  70.5%  $ 1,144  4.6%

Product gross profit of $26.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $24.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019,
increased by $1.1 million, or 4.6%. The increase in product gross profit was due primarily to favorable product mix, and was partially offset by the decrease of
gross margin to 68.0% in the six months ended June 30, 2020, from 70.5% in the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in product gross margin
was due primarily to an increase of $1.2 million, or 3.2%, in cost of product revenue related to the reduced utilization of  our manufacturing facilities during
March and April 2020 prior to our return to full manufacturing in May 2020 , as well as the increased overhead costs of  our Tracy, California facility.

.
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Operating Expenses

Total Operating Expenses

 Three Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Change

 $  
% of Total
Revenue  $  

% of Total
Revenue  $  %

 (In thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative $ 5,599  13%  $ 5,500  24%  $ 99  2%
Sales and marketing 1,497  3%  2,181  10%  (684 )  (31%)
Research and development 6,352  15%  5,480  24%  872  16%
Amortization of intangible assets 4  —%  157  1%  (153 )  (97%)
Impairment of long-lived assets 2,332  5%  —  —%  2,332  —%

Total operating expenses $ 15,784  36%  $ 13,318  58%  $ 2,466  19%

General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses of $5.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $5.5 million in the three months
ended June 30, 2019, increased by $0.1 million, or 2%, due primarily to an increase in other costs of $0.4 million, including software licensing and support
fees, and higher consultant costs of $0.3 million, partially offset by lower employee-related costs of $0.5 million. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior
year, decreased due primarily to lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic and a decrease in share-based compensation expense.

Sales and marketing (“S&M”) expenses of $1.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $2.2 million in the three months ended
June 30, 2019, decreased by $0.7 million, or (31%), due primarily to lower employee-related costs of $0.3 million and lower marketing costs of $0.3 million.
Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, decreased due primarily to lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and a decrease in employee
compensation and benefits related to lower headcount.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses of $6.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $5.5 million in the three months
ended June 30, 2019, increased by $0.9 million, or 16%, due primarily to higher testing supplies expenditures of $0.5 million, an increase in employee-related
costs of $0.4 million, and higher depreciation expense of $0.2 million related to long-lived assets and certain test equipment, partially offset by lower other
costs of $0.1 million. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, increased due primarily to an increase in employee compensation costs related to
higher headcount, partially offset by lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic and a decrease in share-based compensation.

Amortization of intangible assets  in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019, was lower due
primarily to certain finite-lived intangible assets that were fully expensed in the prior year.

Impairment of long-lived assets  in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019, was higher due to the
termination of the VorTeq License Agreement.

COVID-19 did not have a material effect on operating expenditures during the three months ended June 30, 2020.
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Total Operating Expenses

 Six Months Ended June 30,     
 2020  2019  Change

 $  
% of Total
Revenue  $  

% of Total
Revenue  $  %

 (In thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative $ 12,480  19%  $ 11,079  26%  $ 1,401  13%
Sales and marketing 3,635  6%  4,343  10%  (708 )  (16%)
Research and development 13,061  20%  9,734  23%  3,327  34%
Amortization of intangible assets 8  —%  313  1%  (305 )  (97%)
Impairment of long-lived assets 2,332  4%  —  —%  2,332  —%

Total operating expenses $ 31,516  48%  $ 25,469  60%  $ 6,047  24%

G&A expenses of $12.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $11.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019, increased
$1.4 million, or 13%, due primarily to an increase in consultant costs of $0.6 million, other costs of $0.7 million, including software licensing and support fees,
and increased bad debt expense of $0.1 million.

S&M expenses of $3.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $4.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019, decreased
$0.7 million, or (16%), due primarily to a decrease in marketing costs of $0.4 million and lower commission costs of $0.3 million.

R&D expenses of $13.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $9.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019, increased
$3.3 million, or 34%, due primarily to higher testing supplies expenditures of $2.0 million, an increase in employee-related costs of $0.9 million, and higher
depreciation expense of $0.3 million related to long-lived assets and certain test equipment. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, increased due
primarily to an increase in employee compensation and benefits related to higher headcount, partially offset by lower travel costs due to the COVID-19
pandemic and a decrease in share-based compensation expense.

Amortization of intangible assets  in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019, was lower due primarily to
certain finite-lived intangible assets that were fully expensed in the prior year.

Impairment of long-lived assets  in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019, was higher due to the
termination of the VorTeq License Agreement.

COVID-19 did not have a material effect on operating expenditures during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
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Segment and Corporate Operating Expenses

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2020  Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

 Water  Oil & Gas  Corporate  Total  Water  Oil & Gas  Corporate  Total
 (In thousands)

Operating expenses                
General and administrative $ 456  $ 421  $ 4,722  $ 5,599  $ 563  $ 412  $ 4,525  $ 5,500
Sales and marketing 1,124  18  355  1,497  1,559  319  303  2,181
Research and development 960  4,517  875  6,352  1,103  4,305  72  5,480
Amortization of intangible assets 4  —  —  4  157  —  —  157
Impairment of long-lived assets —  2,332  —  2,332  —  —  —  —

Total operating expenses $ 2,544  $ 7,288  $ 5,952  15,784  $ 3,382  $ 5,036  $ 4,900  $ 13,318

Water segment operating expenses of $2.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $3.4 million in the three months ended
June 30, 2019, decreased by $0.8 million, or (25%), due primarily to lower employee-related costs, and lower R&D costs to support further development of our
PX, turbocharger and pump. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, decreased due primarily to lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
a decrease in share-based compensation expense and lower employee compensation, commissions and benefits.

Oil & Gas segment operating expenses, excluding the impairment of long-lived assets, of $5.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020,
decreased by $0.1 million, or (2%), compared to $5.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019, due primarily to higher R&D costs related to testing
supply expenditures and depreciation expense related to long-lived assets fully offset by lower employee-related costs and other expenses. Employee-related
cost, as compared to prior year, decreased due primarily to a decrease in employee compensation and benefits, a decrease in share-based compensation
expense and lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Corporate operating expenses of $6.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $4.9 million in the three months ended June 30,
2019, increased by $1.1 million, or 21%, due primarily to higher allocated employee-related costs to support our future R&D initiatives, professional service
costs and software licensing and support fees. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, increased due primarily to an increase in allocated
employee compensation and benefits, partially offset by lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic and recruitment costs.
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 Six Months Ended June 30, 2020  Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

 Water  Oil & Gas  Corporate  Total  Water  Oil & Gas  Corporate  Total
 (In thousands)

Operating expenses                
General and administrative $ 861  $ 1,162  $ 10,457  $ 12,480  $ 1,097  $ 776  $ 9,206  $ 11,079
Sales and marketing 2,800  76  759  3,635  3,208  582  553  4,343
Research and development 1,862  9,764  1,435  13,061  1,908  7,668  158  9,734
Amortization of intangible assets 8  —  —  8  313  —  —  313
Impairment of long-lived assets —  2,332  —  2,332  —  —  —  —

Total operating expenses $ 5,531  $ 13,334  $ 12,651  31,516  $ 6,526  $ 9,026  $ 9,917  $ 25,469

Water segment operating expenses of $5.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $6.5 million in the six months ended June 30,
2019, decreased by $1.0 million, or (15%), due primarily to lower employee-related costs, and amortization of intangible asset related to fully amortized
intangible assets in 2019. Employee-related cost, as compared to prior year, decreased due primarily to a decrease in employee compensation and benefit
costs, and lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Oil & Gas segment operating expenses, excluding the impairment of long-lived assets, of $11.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020,
compared to $9.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2019, increased by $2.0 million, or 22%, due primarily to higher testing supply expenditures and
equipment depreciation, partially offset by lower employee-related costs. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, decreased due primarily to a
decrease in share-based compensation expense and lower travel cost due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Corporate operating expenses of $12.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $9.9 million in the six months ended June 30,
2019, increased by $2.7 million, or 28%, due primarily to higher allocated employee-related costs to support our future R&D initiatives, professional service
costs, and facility and office costs. Employee-related costs, as compared to prior year, increased due primarily to an increase in allocated employee
compensation and benefit costs, and higher recruiting expenses, partially offset by lower travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic and a decrease in share-
based compensation expense.

Other Income, Net

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands, except percentages)

Interest income $ 255  $ 528  $ 675   $ 1,051
Other non-operating expense, net (18 )  (48 )  (30 )   (72 )

Total other income, net $ 237  $ 480  $ 645   $ 979

Total other income, net of $0.2 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $0.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2019,
decreased by approximately $0.2 million due primarily to a decrease in interest income.

Total other income, net of $0.6 million, in the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to $1.0 million the six months ended June 30, 2019,
decreased by approximately $0.3 million due primarily to a decrease in interest income.
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Income Taxes

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019  2020  2019
 (In thousands, except percentages)

Provision for income taxes $ 4,586  $ 756  $ 4,501  $ 1,310
Effective tax rate 21.3%  16.9%  20.4%  17.1%
Effective tax rate, excluding discrete items 20.1%  21.8%  20.0%  21.6%

The tax provision for interim periods is determined using an estimate of  our annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items, if any, that arise during
the period. Each quarter, we update our estimate of the annual effective tax rate, and if the estimated annual effective tax rate changes,  we make a
cumulative adjustment in such period. The quarterly tax provision, and estimate of  our annual effective tax rate, is subject to variation due to several factors,
including variability in accurately predicting our pre-tax income or loss and the mix of jurisdictions to which they relate, intercompany transactions, the
applicability of special tax regimes, and changes in how we do business.

For the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020, the recognized income tax expense included a discrete tax charge due primarily to the termination
of the VorTeq License Agreement , partially offset by stock-based compensation windfalls. For the three and six months ended  June 30, 2019, the recognized
income tax expense included a discrete tax benefit due primarily to stock-based compensation windfalls.

The effective tax rate, excluding the discrete items for the three and six months ended  June 30, 2020, respectively, compared to the three and six
months ended June 30, 2019, was lower due primarily to  higher anticipated R&D credits in fiscal year 2020 .

On March 18, 2020, the U.S. government enacted the “Families First Coronavirus Response Act” (“FFCRA”). The FFCRA provides, among other things,
a refundable payroll tax credit for emergency sick and family and medical leave required to be paid to employees under the FFCRA. On March 27, 2020, the
U.S. government also enacted the “Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act” (“CARES Act”). The CARES Act, among other things, includes
provisions relating to net operating losses, acceleration of alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and
technical corrections to tax depreciation methods for qualified improvement property. As a result of the alternative minimum tax credit refund acceleration
provision, we expect to receive an additional $0.1 million of tax refund of minimum tax credits carried over from fiscal year 2018. Additionally, the CARES Act
provides a refundable payroll tax credit against the employer’s share of social security tax (the “Employee Retention Credit”), and permits employers to defer,
until fiscal years 2021 and 2022, payment of their remaining payroll tax liability (“Payroll Tax Deferral”). To date, we have applied for both the Employee
Retention Credit and the Payroll Tax Deferral, which will defer federal social security taxes payments. These federal social security taxes payments will in turn
be paid out in equal installments in fiscal years 2021 and 2022.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

As of June 30, 2020, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of: (i) unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $63.0 million, (ii) short-term investments
of $28.4 million that are primarily invested in  marketable debt instruments such as corporate notes and bonds and U.S. Treasury securities , and (iii) accounts
receivable, net of allowances of $12.8 million. As of June 30, 2020, our unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-term investments held outside
the U.S. were $3.6 million. We invest cash not needed for current operations predominantly in high-quality, investment-grade, marketable debt instruments
with the intent to make such funds available for operating purposes as needed. Although these securities are available for sale, we generally hold these
securities to maturity, and therefore, do not currently see a need to trade these securities in order to support our liquidity needs in the foreseeable future. The
risk of this portfolio to us is in the ability of the underlying companies to cover their obligations at maturity, not in our ability to trade these securities at a profit.
Based on current projections, we believe existing cash balances and future cash inflows from this portfolio will meet our liquidity needs for at least the next 12
months.

As of June 30, 2020, we had $0.9 million of short-term contract assets which primarily represents unbilled trade receivables from certain Water segment
contract sales which includes contractual holdback provisions, pursuant to which we will invoice the final retention payment due within the next 12 months.
The customer holdbacks represent amounts intended to provide a form of security for the customer; and accordingly, these contract assets have not been
discounted to present value. The retention payments with no performance conditions are recorded as unbilled trade receivables. In addition, as of June 30,
2020, there were no Oil & Gas segment unbilled project costs.

Loan and Pledge Agreement

We entered into a loan and pledge agreement with a financial institution on January 27, 2017. Since inception, this loan and pledge agreement has
been amended multiple times to accommodate our growth (the amended loan and pledge agreement is hereinafter referred to as the “Loan and Pledge
Agreement”). The Loan and Pledge Agreement , which will expire on June 30, 2022, provides for a committed revolving credit line of $16.0 million and an
uncommitted revolving credit line of $4.0 million. The covenants of the Loan and Pledge Agreement  allow us to incur indebtedness owed to a foreign
subsidiary in an aggregate amount not to exceed $66.0 million, which amount is subordinated to any amounts outstanding under the Loan and Pledge
Agreement. We are in compliance with all covenants related to this Loan and Pledge Agreement.

Stand-By Letters of Credit

Under the Loan and Pledge Agreement , we are allowed to issue stand-by letters of credit (“SBLCs”) up to one year past the expiration date of the Loan
and Pledge Agreement and to hold SBLCs with other financial institutions up to $5.1 million. SBLCs have a term limit of three years, are secured by pledged
U.S. investments, and do not have any cash collateral balance requirement. SBLCs are deducted from the total revolving credit line under the Loan and
Pledge Agreement and are subject to a non-refundable quarterly fee that is in an amount equal to 0.7% per annum of the face amount of the outstanding
SBLCs. As of June 30, 2020, outstanding SBLC totaled $12.3 million.

CARES Act

We have not availed ourselves of any loans made available under the CARES Act, including both the Payroll Protection Program and the Economic
Injury Disaster Loan Program. We continue to monitor the programs the Federal government and the State of California are putting in place, and will
participate in those programs for which we are eligible.
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Cash Flows

 Six Months Ended June 30,

 2020  2019
 (In thousands)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (294)  $ 3
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 35,788  (3,241 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,105  4,519
Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents (15 )  —

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 36,584  $ 1,281

Due to the project driven, non-cyclical nature of our business, operating cash flow can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter, and year to year,
due to the timing of receipts of large project orders. Operating cash flow may be negative in one quarter or year and significantly positive in the next,
consequently individual quarterly results and comparisons may not necessarily indicate a significant trend, either positive or negative. Similarly, the nature and
timing of investing activities and financing activities may be linked to available cash and the timing of events outside those of operating activities. Therefore, it
may be difficult to derive meaning directly from quarterly and annual comparisons of cash flow.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities  is primarily generated by net income adjusted for certain non-cash items, and changes in assets and
liabilities.

Cash used in operating activities of $0.3 million in 2020, as compared to cash provided from operating of three thousand dollars in 2019, was lower by
$0.3 million. Cash provided by net income adjusted for non-cash items of $30.3 million in 2020, compared to cash provided by net income adjusted for non-
cash items of $13.2 million in 2019, was higher by $17.2 million. Cash used for assets and liabilities of $30.6 million in 2020, compared to cash used for
assets and liabilities of $13.1 million in 2019, was higher by $17.5 million.

Net change of cash used for assets and liabilities of $30.6 million in 2020 was due primarily to a $27.8 million decrease in contract liabilities due to the
recognition of license and development revenue related to the termination of the VorTeq License Agreement during the period, a $4.0 million decrease in
accrued expenses and other liabilities due primarily to lower accrued payroll, incentive and commission payable, a $0.3 million increase in prepaid and other
assets, and a $0.2 million increase in contract assets, partially offset by a $1.3 million increase in accounts payable due to timing of invoices and payments,
and a $0.1 million net increase in accounts receivable and contract assets due to the timing of invoices and payments.

We have seen no material effect to our operating cash flows due to COVID-19 during the six months ended June 30, 2020. Our greatest risks to our
operating cash flows in this crisis are the strength of our existing and projected backlog, as well as customer receivables in a time when many companies are
experiencing stress to their operating cash flows.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  primarily relates to maturities and purchases of marketable securities, and capital expenditures
supporting our growth. Our investments in marketable securities are structured to preserve principal and liquidity while at the same time maximizing yields
without significantly increasing risk.

Cash provided by investing activities in 2020 of $35.8 million was due primarily to $43.3 million and $9.8 million in maturities and sales, respectively, of
marketable security investments, partially offset by $12.9 million used to purchase investments and $4.4 million for capital expenditures.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities  primarily relates to the issuance of equity typically from share-based compensation.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2020 of $1.1 million was due primarily to the issuance of common stock related to stock option exercises, net
of taxes paid on vested restricted stock units.

Liquidity and Capital Resource Requirements

We believe that our existing resources and cash generated from our operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated capital requirements for at least
the next 12 months. However, we may need to raise additional capital or incur additional indebtedness to continue to fund our operations or to support
acquisitions in the future and/or to fund investments in our latest technology arising from rapid market adoption, needs that could require us to seek additional
equity or debt financing. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors including the continuing market acceptance of our products, our rate of
revenue growth, the timing of new product introductions, the expansion of our research and development, manufacturing and sales and marketing activities,
the timing and extent of our expansion into new geographic territories and the amount and timing of cash used for stock repurchases. In addition, we may
enter into potential material investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, services or technologies in the future which could also require us to
seek additional equity or debt financing. Should we need additional liquidity or capital funds, these funds may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at
all.

Contractual Obligations

We lease facilities and equipment under fixed noncancelable operating leases that expire on various dates through fiscal year 2030. The following table
presents a summary of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2020.

   Payments Due by Period

 Total  
1 Year (remaining six

months of 2020)  
2-3 Years (2021-

2022)  
3-4 Years (2023-

2024)  
5 Years + (2025 and

thereafter)
 (In thousands)

Operating lease obligations $ 24,960  $ 1,290  $ 5,081  $ 5,392  $ 13,197
Purchase obligations(1) 8,728  8,673  55  —  —

Total contractual obligations $ 33,688  $ 9,963  $ 5,136  $ 5,392  $ 13,197

  (1) Purchase obligations are related to open purchase orders for materials and
supplies.

This table excludes agreements with guarantees or indemnity provisions that we have entered into with customers and others in the ordinary course of
business. Based on our historical experience and information known to us as of June 30, 2020, we believe, as of June 30, 2020, that our exposure related to
these guarantees and indemnities was not material.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships such as entities often referred to
as structured finance or special purpose entities which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1, “Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies  – Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1, “Financial Statements (unaudited),” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3 — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk may be found primarily in two areas, foreign currency and interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our foreign currency exposures are due to fluctuations in exchange rates for U.S. dollar (“USD”) versus the British pound, Saudi riyal, United Arab
Emirates dirham, European euro, Chinese yuan, Indian rupee and Canadian dollar. Changes in currency exchange rates could adversely affect our
consolidated operating results or financial position.

Our revenue contracts have been denominated in USD. At times, our international customers may have difficulty in obtaining USD to pay our
receivables, thus increasing collection risk and potential doubtful account expense. As we expand our international sales, a portion of our revenue could be
denominated in foreign currencies. As a result, our cash and cash equivalents and operating results could be increasingly affected by changes in exchange
rates.

In addition, we pay many vendors in foreign currency and, therefore, are subject to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Our international sales
and service operations incur expense that is denominated in foreign currencies. This expense could be materially affected by currency fluctuations. Our
international sales and services operations also maintain cash balances denominated in foreign currencies. To decrease the inherent risk associated with
translation of foreign cash balances into our reporting currency, we do not maintain excess cash balances in foreign currencies.

We have not hedged our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates because expenses in foreign currencies have been insignificant to
date and exchange rate fluctuations have had little impact on our operating results and cash flows.

Interest Rate and Credit Risks

We have an investment portfolio of fixed-income marketable debt securities including amounts classified as cash equivalents, and short and long-term
investments. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal and liquidity while at the same time maximizing yields without
significantly increasing risk. We invest primarily in investment-grade short and long-term debt instruments of high-quality corporate issuers and instruments of
the U.S. government and its agencies. These investments are subject to counter-party credit risk. To minimize this risk, we invest pursuant to an investment
policy approved by our board of directors. The policy mandates high credit rating requirements and restricts our exposure to any single corporate issuer by
imposing concentration limits.

As of June 30, 2020, our total debt security investments which totaled approximately $33.9 million, are presented in Short-term investments and Long-
term investments on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. These investments are subject to interest rate fluctuations and will decrease in market
value if interest rates increase. To minimize the exposure due to adverse shifts in interest rates, we maintain investments with an average maturity of less than
seven months. As of June 30, 2020, a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rates would have resulted in an approximately $0.2 million decrease in the fair
value of our fixed-income debt securities.
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Item 4 — Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Based on that evaluation, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2020, our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 — Legal Proceedings

Note 8, “Commitments and Contingencies – Litigation,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data,” of the 2019 Annual Report, provides information on certain litigation in which we are involved.

For an update on the litigation matters previously disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report, see the discussion in Note 8, “Commitments and Contingencies
– Litigation,” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q, which discussion is incorporated by
reference into this Item 1.

Item 1A — Risk Factors

Other than the risk factor(s) provided below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk
Factors,” in the 2019 Annual Report and those disclosed in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in the Q1’2020 Form 10-Q Quarterly Report.

The VorTeq License Agreement with Schlumberger was mutually terminated, effective June 1, 2020.  We will continue the development of the
VorTeq technology without the collaboration of Schlumberger and we may not be able to successfully develop and subsequently commercialize
the VorTeq technology.

In October 2015, we entered into the VorTeq License Agreement  with Schlumberger, which provided Schlumberger with exclusive worldwide rights to
our VorTeq technology for hydraulic fracturing onshore applications. In performing the obligations under the license, we provided research and development
services to commercialize the technology in accordance with the Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”), as defined in the VorTeq License Agreement . In order
to commercialize the VorTeq technology, the VorTeq License Agreement  provided, among other things, that we successfully meet certain specified
milestones against key performance indicators set forth in the VorTeq License Agreement . We received a non-refundable up-front $75.0 million exclusivity fee
in connection with the VorTeq License Agreement , and the agreement provided for two additional milestone payments of $25.0 million each if the KPIs related
to those two milestones would have been achieved. Effective June 1, 2020, we entered into an agreement to terminate the VorTeq License Agreement . As a
result, we will pursue the development and commercialization of the Vorteq technology without the collaboration of Schlumberger, and we will not receive the
two additional $25.0 million milestone payments that were contemplated by the VorTeq License Agreement . However, there is no exclusivity with respect to
the VorTeq technology, and we will be able to pursue the entire fracking market if we successfully commercialize it.

The VorTeq technology is a relatively new technology and the hydraulic fracturing process is extremely complex, which presents a wide range of
technological challenges for us. If we are unable to successfully solve these challenges or find suitable collaboration partners, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize the VorTeq technology, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operation. The
successful commercialization of the VorTeq depends heavily on the support of fracking operators and ultimate adoption of the technology by these companies.
If the fracking operators fail to adopt the VorTeq technology, for any reason, we may not be able to successfully commercialize the VorTeq technology and we
may not receive any return on our significant research and development investment. Failure to commercialize the VorTeq technology could have an adverse
effect on our entire business, financial condition, or results of operation.

Item 2 — Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3 — Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
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Item 4 — Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5 — Other Information

None.

Item 6 — Exhibits

A list of exhibits filed or furnished with this report or incorporated herein by reference is found in the Exhibit Index below.

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description

 Incorporated by Reference  Filed
Herewith Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing Date  

10.1†  Energy Recovery, Inc. 2020 Incentive Plan.  Schedule 14A  001-34112  Appendix A  5/29/2020   
10.2

 

Termination Agreement and Release, dated as of June 24, 2020, by and
between ERI Energy Recovery Ireland Ltd. and Schlumberger Technology
Corporation.  

8-K/A

 

001-34112

 

10.1

 

6/29/2020

  
10.3†

 
Offer of Employment with Energy Recovery, Inc., as President and Chief
Executive Officer.  

8-K/A
 

001-34112
 

10.1
 

5/22/2020
  

31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

31.2

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

32.1*

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.           

101

 

Inline XBRL Document Set for the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes in Part I, “Financial Information” of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.           

104
 

Inline XBRL for the cover page of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
included in the Exhibit 101 Inline XBRL Document Set.           

  * The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 are deemed to accompany this Form 10-Q and are not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or
otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

† Management contract or compensatory plan or
arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

   ENERGY RECOVERY, INC.  
      
Date: July 31, 2020  By: /s/ ROBERT YU LANG MAO  
    Robert Yu Lang Mao  
    President and Chief Executive Officer  
    (Principal Executive Officer)  
      

Date: July 31, 2020  By: /s/ JOSHUA BALLARD  
    Joshua Ballard  
    Chief Financial Officer  
    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

   Energy Recovery, Inc. | Q2'2020 Form 10-Q | 45



 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert Yu Lang Mao, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Energy Recovery, Inc. for the period ended June 30,
2020;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: July 31, 2020 /s/ ROBERT YU LANG MAO  
 Name: Robert Yu Lang Mao  
 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer  
  (Principal Executive Officer )  



 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joshua Ballard, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Energy Recovery, Inc. for the period ended June 30,
2020;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: July 31, 2020 /s/ JOSHUA BALLARD  
 Name: Joshua Ballard  
 Title: Chief Financial Officer  
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  



 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002*

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title
18 of the United States Code, Robert Yu Lang Mao, President and Chief Executive Officer of Energy Recovery, Inc., and Joshua Ballard, Chief Financial Officer of Energy
Recovery, Inc., each hereby certify that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Quarterly Report”), fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2. The information contained in the Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the
Quarterly Report and results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Quarterly Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has set his hand hereto:

Date: July 31, 2020  /s/ ROBERT YU LANG MAO  
  Robert Yu Lang Mao  
  President and Chief Executive Officer  
    

    

    

Date: July 31, 2020  /s/ JOSHUA BALLARD  
  Joshua Ballard  
  Chief Financial Officer  

* This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of Energy Recovery, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made
before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.


